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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

ORLANDO DIVISION

SOFIA WAGNAC, NASER DAYERI,
ACTHARUS JOSEPH, LEVY JOLY,
LASHYLA COMMINGS, KEVIN VEGA,
FEDELINE LEGROS, on behalf of
themselves and those similarly situated, Case No.(p n_ov ()Apt- NI-- LID

Plaintiffs, COLLECTWE ACTION

VS.

GUARDNOW, INC., and
MIKE KATOR,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Named Plaintiffs, SOFIA WAGNAC, NASER DAYER1, ACTHARUS JOSEPH,

LEVY JOLY, LASHYLA COMMINGS, KEVIN VEGA, and FEDELINE LEGROS, on behalf

of themselves and those similarly situated, (hereinafter the individual plaintiffs are referred to as

"Named Plaintiffs"), by and through their undersigned counsel, sue the Defendants

GUARDNOW, INC. ("GuardNow"), and MIKE KATOR ("Kator). (collectively "Defendants"),

and state as follows:

INTRODUCTION

This is an action by the Named Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and

those similarly situated, against Defendants, their former employer, for unpaid wages under the

Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as amended, 29 U.S.C. 201, ei seq. (-FLSA-) and Fla. Stat.

448.08. Named Plaintiffs seek all wages due to them under the law, liquidated damages where

applicable, declaratory relief, and their reasonable attorney's fee and costs.
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2. Named Plaintiffs seek an Order conditionally certifying this case as a

collective action to include all similarly situated non-exempt "Security Officers" and similarly

situated individuals, who did not receive proper minimum and/or overtime wages within the last

three years.

JURISDICTION

3. Count I of this action arises under the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §201, et seq. for

unpaid minimum wages. This Court has jurisdiction over claims filed under the FLSA pursuant

to 29 U.S.C. §216(b) and 28 U.S.C. §1331.

4. Count II of this action arises under the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §20I, et seq. for

unpaid overtime wages. This Court has jurisdiction over claims filed under the FLSA pursuant to

29 U.S.C. §2I 6(b) and 28 U.S.C. §1331.

5. Count III of this action arises under the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28

U.S.C. §§220I-2202. This Court has jurisdiction over this Count pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331.

6. Count IV of this action arises under Fla. Stat. §448.08 for unpaid wages

and this Court has supplemental jurisdiction over these claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1367.

VENUE

7. The venue of this Court over this controversy is proper based upon the

claim arising in Orange County, Florida.

THE PARTIES

8. Named Plaintiffs were each, at all times relevant hereto, an -employee of

the Defendants as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. 203(e).

9. Kator is/was during the relevant time period the Chief Operating Officer,

Chief Executive Office, Secretary, and Chief Financial Officer ofGuardNow.
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10. Kator is/was during the relevant time period a corporate officer of

GuardNow.

11. Kator has/had during the relevant time period operational control over

GuardNow.

12. Kator has/had during the relevant time period a supervisory role at

GuardNow.

13. Kator has/had during the relevant time period supervised GuardNow

employees.

14. As the Chief Operating Officer, Chief Executive Office, Secretary, and

Chief Financial Officer ofGuardNow, Kator had significant ownership interest in GuardNow.

15. As the Chief Operating Officer, Chief Executive Office, Secretary, and

Chief Financial Officer of GuardNow, Kator not only supervised and controlled employee work

schedules and conditions of employment. but Kator was also responsible for paying employees

and any failure to pay was directly due to his actions.

16. As a result of being solely responsible for paying employees and any

failure to pay is directly due to his actions. Kator had personal responsibility for the decision that

lead to employees being unlawfully deprived of minimum wages, overtime pay, and unpaid

wages.

17. As the Chief Operating Officer, Chief Executive Office, Secretary, and

Chief Financial Officer of GuardNow, Kator had control of significant aspects of GuardNow's

day to day operations, including compensation of the employees.

18. Kator acted directly or indirectly in the interest of himself and/or

GuardNow in relation to Plaintiffs.
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19. Kator has/had during the relevant time period, substantial control related

to GuardNow's FLSA obligations and played a substantial role in causing the FLSA violation

against Plaintiffs.

20. Kator is/was during the relevant time period the majority shareholder of

GuardNow.

21. Kator is/was during the relevant time period receiving distributions of

GuardNow's profits according to his percentage ownership ofGuardNow.

22. Kator is/was during the relevant time period the final decision maker

regarding employment related polices, including compensation for all GuardNow employees.

23. Kator implemented all or the majority of employment related policies for

all GuardNow employees.

24. The Managers at the job site in Orlando functioned as the direct

supervisors of the Security Officers.

25. The Managers directed the day to day work of the Security Officers.

26. Kator directly supervises and instructs all Managers on how to run the day

to day work of the Security Officers, therefore, Kator directs the day to day work of the Security

Officers.

27. Kator creates and implements all decisions regarding compensation of the

Security Officers.

28. Kator instructed Managers to enforce any and all employment or

compensation related policies he created for the Security Officers.

29. Kator does/did fbr the relevant time period work at the GuardNow

headquarter office on a daily basis.
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30. At all times material hereto Kator had a direct financial interest in and

benefited from the unlawful payment practices of the Named Plaintiffs.

31. The Defendants were, at all times relevant hereto, Named Plaintiffs'

"employer" as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. 203(d).

32. Named Plaintiffs were, at all times relevant to the violations of the FLSA,

through the performance of their job duties, engaged in commerce as defined by 29 U.S.C.

203(b).

33. At all times material hereto, the Named Plaintiffs were/are residents of the

greater Orlando, Florida area.

34. At all times material hereto, GuardNow, a California corporation, did

business from 2431 Aloma Avenue, Winter Park, FL 32792, and stationed its Security Officers

to work from the Orlando International Airport, in Orange County, Florida.

35. GuardNow is and was, at all times relevant hereto, an enterprise engaged

in commerce or in the production ofgoods for commerce as defined by 29 U.S.C. 203(s)(1).

36. GuardNow is and was, at all times relevant hereto, an enterprise whose

annual gross volume of sales made or business done is not less than $500,000.

37. Named Plaintiffs have retained the law firm of Wilson McCoy, P.A. to

represent them in this matter and have agreed to pay said firm a reasonable attorney's fee for its

services.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

38. GuardNow is a full service security guard provider.
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39. Upon information and belief, GuardNow is based in California but

employs hundreds of Security Officers throughout the country at various locations including in

Florida.

40. From approximately October 2016 until December 2016, Named Plaintiffs

were employed by Defendants.

41. Each of the Named Plaintiffs were employed by Defendants as "Security

Officers."

42. At all times material hereto, the Named Plaintiffs were employed by

Defendants as Security Officers, fulfilling non-exempt duties.

43. At all times material hereto, Defendants paid Named Plaintiffs on an

hourly basis.

44. Defendants paid the Named Plaintiffs the regular hourly rate of

approximately $20.00 as Security Officers. Therefore, Named Plaintiffs' overtime rates should

have been between approximately $30.00 per hour.

45. During their employment with Defendants as a Security Officer, Named

Plaintiffs routinely worked above forty (40) hours per week.

46. During their employment with Defendants as a Security Officer, Named

Plaintiffs were scheduled to work 40 hours weekly.

47. While working as Security Officers for Defendants, some of Named

Plaintiffs' job duties included providing security officer services for different entities, such as car

rental parking lots and other areas near the Orlando International Airport.

48. Named Plaintiffs reported their work hours by clocking in and out at the

job site and filling out a time log sheet.
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49. On some occasions Defendants issued a paychecks to some of the Named

Plaintiffs, however, the checks bounced.

50. As a result of the checks bouncing, Named Plaintiffs were harmed

numerous ways, including by having to pay a fee for the bounced check.

51. On other occasions, Defendants never issued any paychecks to the Names

Plaintiffs for their work.

52. As a result of not receiving any paycheck at all Named Plaintiffs were

harmed,

53. As a result ofDefendants failing to compensate Named Plaintiffs for work

performed for certain weeks, Named Plaintiffs received less than minimum wage for all hours

worked.

54. As a result ofDefendants failing to compensate Named Plaintiffs for work

performed for certain weeks, Named Plaintiffs received no overtime wages for hours worked in

excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek.

55. Named Plaintiffs routinely worked workweeks in excess of forty (40)

hours in a week.

56. Under the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA"),

employees are required to receive overtime wages at a rate of 1 and 'A times their regular hourly

rate for hours they work in excess of forty (40) during any particular workweek unless they

qualify for an FLSA exemption.

57. Under the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA"),

employees are required to receive no less than minimum wage for all hours worked.
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58. This action arises from an ongoing willful failure to pay Named Plaintiffs

minimum wage and/or overtime wages for their overtime hours worked.

59. Therefore, Defendants caused Named Plaintiffs to earn less than minimum

wage each week in addition to substantial hours of unpaid overtime for hours worked in excess

of40 hours by Named Plaintiffs.

60. Defendants did not record or otherwise maintain records of all hours

Named Plaintiffs worked each workweek.

61. The Named Plaintiffs' claimed overtime hours may, in part, be

corroborated by the amount of time they were each clocked-in and/or time listed in their time

logs.

62. Defendants never paid any of the Named Plaintiffs overtime wages for any

hours Named Plaintiffs worked in excess of forty (40) in a workweek.

63. Named Plaintiffs allege that Defendants knowingly and willfully violated

the provisions of the FLSA by failing to pay them for all overtime hours worked with

Defendants.

64. Defendants employ human resources personnel and legal counsel to

ensure compliance with all applicable state and federal statutes, including the FLSA provision

regarding payment of minimum wage and overtime wages.

65. Defendants knew or should have known that its former and current

policies regarding payment of minimum wage and overtime wages as described herein violate

the FLSA as they pertained to Named Plaintiffs.

8



Case 6:17-cv-01419-PGB-GJK Document 1 Filed 08/01/17 Page 9 of 16 PagelD 9

66. As employers, Defendants are responsible for the illegal conduct and

policies described herein related to the failure to comply with the provisions of the FLSA as

applied to Named Plaintiffs.

67. As a result of the actions of Defendants not paying legally required

overtime wages to Named Plaintiffs, Named Plaintiffs have suffered economic damages.

68. The actions of Defendants in deliberately failing to pay the Named

Plaintiffs overtime wages were done for the purpose ofenriching and benefitting Defendants.

Putative Class Representative Allegations

69. Named Plaintiffs and the other Security Officers employed within and

outside of Central Florida performed the same or substantially similar job. Specifically, like the

Named Plaintiffs, each member of the Putative Collective Class held or hold the position of

Security Officer, providing security services.

70. Further, Named Plaintiffs and the Putative Collective Class were subjected

to the same pay provisions in that they were each paid on an hourly basis and were suffered and

permitted to work up to forty (40) hours without being paid minimum wage, and, at times, over

forty (40) hours in work weeks without being paid at a rate of at least time and one half their

regular hourly rate of pay for such hours.

71. Thus, the Putative Collective Class members are owed minimum and

overtime wages for the same reasons as the Named Plaintiffs.

72. Moreover, Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result of its

accepting the work of Named Plaintiffs and the similarly situated Putative Collective Class

without proper compensation.

9
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73. It would be unjust to allow Defendants to enjoy the fruits of the Putative

Collective Class' labor without proper compensation.

74. Defendants' policy or practice was applicable to Named Plaintiffs and the

Putative Collective Class members.

75. Application of the Defendantspolicies and practices does not depend on

the personal circumstances ofNamed Plaintiffs or those joining this lawsuit.

76. Rather, the same policies and practices which resulted in the non-payment

of minimum and/or overtime wages to Named Plaintiffs applies to all Putative Collective Class

members.

77. Defendants knowingly, willingly, or with reckless disregard carried out its

illegal pattern or practice of failing to pay minimum and/or overtime wages with respect to

Named Plaintiffs and the Putative Collective Class members.

78. Defendants acted willfully in failing to pay Named Plaintiffs and the class

members in accordance with the law.

79. Defendants were aware of the time and record keeping requirements ofthe

Fair Labor Standards Act, but willfully or recklessly failed to keep accurate pay and time records

as required.

80. Defendants did not act in good faith or reliance upon any of the following

in formulating its pay practices: (a) case law, (b) the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. 201, et seq., (c)

Department of Labor Wage & Hour Opinion Letters or (d) the Code ofFederal Regulations.

81. Named Plaintiffs file this collective action on behalf of themselves and the

Putative Collective Class, meaning all other similarly situated Security Officers.

10
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82. The Putative Collective Class is defined as follows: All employees

employed as Security Officers, or any similar position by Defendants within the last three years

who were paid on an hourly basis and whose job responsibilities included providing security

services to different entities, such as parking lots and other areas near the Orlando International

Airport.

COUNT I
VIOLATION OF THE MINIMUM WAGE PROVISIONS OF

THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT

83. Named Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein the allegations contained

in paragraphs I through 82 above, as if set forth more fully herein.

84. Named Plaintiffs and the Putative Collective Class were entitled to be paid

minimum wage for each hour worked during their employment with Defendants.

85. At all times material hereto, Defendants failed to maintain proper/accurate

time records for the Named Plaintiffs and the Putative Collective Class as mandated by the

FLSA.

86. As a result of Defendants' actions or inactions in this regard, Named

Plaintiffs and the Putative Collective Class have not been paid the minimum wage for all hours

worked during their employment with Defendants.

87. Defendants willfully failed to pay Named Plaintiffs and the Putative

Collective Class minimum wage for all hours ofwork contrary to 29 U.S.C. 206.

88. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' deliberate underpayment

of wages, Named Plaintiffs and the Putative Collective Class have been damaged in the loss of

minimum wages for all hours worked with Defendants.
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WHEREFORE, Named Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the Putative

Collective Class demand judgment against Defendants for:

(a) An amount equal to at least the minimum wage for all hours worked found

to be due and owing for the three (3) years prior to this filing;

(b) An additional amount equal to the unpaid minimum and overtime wages

found to be due and owing as liquidated damages;

(c) Prejudgment interest in the event liquidated damages are not awarded;

(d) Reasonable attorney's fee and costs; and

(e) Such other reliefas this Court deems just and equitable.

COUNT II
VIOLATION OF THE OVERTIME PROVISIONS OF

THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT

89. Named Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein the allegations contained

in paragraphs 1 through 82, above.

90. Named Plaintiffs, and the Putative Collective Class, as Defendants'

employees, were entitled to be paid at the statutory rate of one and one-half times Named

Plaintiffs' regular rate of pay for those hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours.

91. Specifically, Named Plaintiffs, and the Putative Collective Class worked

numerous weeks in excess of forty (40) hours a week, yet they were not compensated for any

hours worked in excess of forty (40) at a rate not less than one and one-half times the regular rate

at which they were employed.

92. Throughout the employment ofNamed Plaintiffs, and that of the Putative

Collective Class, the Defendants have repeatedly and willfully violated Section 7 and Section 15

of the FLSA by failing to compensate Named Plaintiffs and the Putative Collective Class at a

12
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rate not less than one and one-half times the regular rate at which they were employed for

workweeks longer than forty (40) hours.

93. At all times material hereto, Defendants failed to maintain proper/accurate

time records for the Named Plaintiffs and Putative Collective Class as mandated by the FLSA.

WHEREFORE, Named Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the Putative

Collective Class, demand a judgment against Defendants for the following:

(a) Unpaid overtime wages found to be due and owing;

(b) An additional amount equal to the unpaid overtime wages found to be due

and owing as liquidated damages;

(c) Prejudgment interest in the event liquidated damages are not awarded;

(d) Reasonable attorney's fee and costs; and

(e) Such other relief as this Court deems just and equitable.

COUNT III
DECLARATORY RELIEF

94. Named Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein the allegations contained

in paragraphs 1 through 82, above.

95. Named Plaintiffs and Defendants have a Fair Labor Standards Act dispute

pending, which the Court has jurisdiction to hear pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1331, as a federal

question exists.

96. The Court also has jurisdiction to hear Named Plaintiffs' request for

declaratory relief pursuant to the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§2201-2202.

97. Named Plaintiffs may obtain declaratory relief.

98. Defendants employed the hourly paid employees.

13



Case 6:17-cv-01419-PGB-GJK Document 1 Filed 08/01/17 Page 14 of 16 PagelD 14

99. Named Plaintiff and those similarly situated were individually covered by

the FLSA.

100. Defendants' pay practices violated the FLSA.

101. Defendants failed to pay Named Plaintiffs and those similarly situated for

all minimum wage and overtime hours worked.

102. Defendants' owe Named Plaintiffs and those similarly situated additional

minimum wages and overtime pay.

103. Named Plaintiffs and those similarly situated are entitled to minimum

wages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §206 and overtime pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §207(a)(1).

104. Defendants did not keep accurate time records pursuant to 29 U.S.C.

§211(c) and 29 C.F.R. Part 516.

105. Defendants did not rely upon a good faith defense.

106. Defendants' violations were done either intentionally or with reckless

disregard for the FLSA's rules and regulations.

107. Named Plaintiffs and those similarly situated are entitled to an equal

amount of liquidated damages.

108. It is in the public interest to have these declarations ofrights recorded.

109. Named Plaintiffs declaratory judgment action serves the useful purpose of

clarifying and settling the legal relations in issue.

110. The declaratory judgment action terminates and affords relief from

uncertainty, insecurity, and controversy giving rise to the proceeding.

WHEREFORE, Named Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the Putative

Collective Class, demand a judgment against Defendants for the following:

14
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(a) Declaratory Judgment under Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C.

§§2201-2202;

(b) Determining and declaring that Defendants failed to pay Named Plaintiffs

minimum wages and overtime wages in violation of the FLSA;

(c) An additional amount equal to the unpaid minimum wages and overtime

wages found to be due and owing as liquidated damages;

(d) Prejudgment interest in the event liquidated damages are not awarded;

(e) Reasonable attorney's fee and costs; and

(0 Such other relief as this Court deems just and equitable.

COUNT VI: UNPAID WAGES

11 I. Named Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate herein the allegations contained

in paragraphs 1 through 82, above.

112. On some occasions, Defendants issued checks with no funds to Named

Plaintiffs, thus, causing the checks to bounce Named Plaintiffs to not receive any pay for their

work performed.

113. On other occasion, Defendant outright failed to issue any checks or any

payment at all to Named Plaintiffs for their work performed.

114. As a result of the failure to pay and/or bounced checks, Defendants

deprived Plaintiffof part of their earned wages.

115. Defendants have, therefore, willfully failed to pay Named Plaintiffs wages

due to them.

116. The foregoing conduct, as alleged, has resulted in unpaid wages due to

Named Plaintiffs under Florida common law.

15
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117. Due to Defendants' failure to pay wages to Named Plaintiffs, Defendants

have violated and continue to violate Florida common law.

118. Pursuant to §448.08, Florida Statutes, Named Plaintiffs are entitled to

recover costs and reasonable attorney's fees for the Defendants' actions.

WHEREFORE, Named Plaintiffs demand a judgment against Defendants for:

(a) Unpaid wages found to be due and owing from October 2016 to December

2016;

(b) Prejudgment interest;

(c) A reasonable attorney's fee and costs; and

(d) Such other reliefas this Court deems just and equitable.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable.

DATED this 28th day ofJuly 2017.

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Karina Xart McMahon
Karina Xart McMahon
Florida Bar No. 0107121

kmcmahon@wilsonmmccoylaw.com
Nathan McCoy, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 676101

nmccoy@wilsonmccoylaw.com
WILSON MCCOY, P.A.
711 N. Orlando Ave, Suite 202
Maitland, Florida 32751

Telephone: (407) 803-5400
Facsimile: (407) 803-4617

TRIAL COUNSEL for the Named Plaintiffs
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